

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Transfusion and Apheresis Science

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/transci

Ebola virus convalescent blood products: Where we are now and where we may need to go



Transfusion and Apheresis Science

Thierry Burnouf^{a,*}, Jerard Seghatchian^{b,**}

^a Graduate Institute of Biomedical Materials and Tissue Engineering, College of Oral Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan ^b International Consultancy in Blood Components Quality/Safety Improvements, Audit/Inspection and DDR Strategy, London, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Ebola Blood Plasma Convalescent plasma Transfusion Immunoglobulins Mini-pool Viral inactivation Emerging pathogens Virus

ABSTRACT

The world is regularly exposed to emerging infections with the potential to burst into a pandemic. One possible way to treat patients, when no other treatment is yet developed, is passive immunization performed by transfusing blood, plasma or plasma immunoglobulin fractions obtained from convalescent donors who have recovered from the disease and have developed protective antibodies. The most recent on-going epidemic is caused by the Ebola virus, a filovirus responsible for Ebola virus disease, a severe, often lethal, hemorrhagic fever. Recently, the use of convalescent blood products was proposed by the WHO as one early option for treating patients with Ebola virus disease. This publication provides an overview of the various convalescent blood products and technological options that could theoretically be considered when there is a need to rely on this therapeutic approach. In countries without access to advanced blood-processing technologies, the choice may initially be restricted to convalescent whole blood or plasma. In technologically advanced countries, additional options for convalescent blood products are available, including virally inactivated plasma and fractionated immunoglobulins. The preparation of minipool immunoglobulins is also a realistic option to consider.

© 2014 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	121
2.	Historical perspectives	121
3.	Current options	121
	3.1. Whole blood	121
	3.2. Plasma	122
4.	Virally reduced (inactivated) single/small pooled plasma	122
	4.1. Technologies licensed in Europe and other countries	122
	4.2. Technology approved in Egypt	122
	4.3. Experimental, unlicensed technologies	123
5.	Mini-pool Immunoglobulins	123
6.	Large-pool products	123
7.	Conclusions	123
	References	124

* Corresponding author. Graduate Institute of Biomedical Materials and Tissue Engineering, College of Oral Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan.

E-mail address: thburnouf@gmail.com (T. Burnouf).

** Corresponding author. International Consultancy in Blood Components Quality/Safety Improvements, Audit/Inspection and DDR Strategy, London, UK. *E-mail address:* jseghatchian@btopenworld.com (J. Seghatchian).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.transci.2014.10.003

1473-0502/© 2014 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.



Review

1. Introduction

Recent infectious agents include the West Nile virus (WNV), Dengue virus, chikungunya virus, severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) virus, Middle-East coronavirus, various avian flu viruses (H1N1, H5N1) some with a pandemic potential, and Ebola virus (EBOV) [1-3]. Transfusion of convalescent blood products may be considered for treating patients affected by emerging infectious agents when no other specific treatment is yet available and if the infection generates effective protective antibodies. Transfusing convalescent blood products has demonstrated some efficacy in fighting various viral or bacterial infectious diseases including influenza, measles, chickenpox, and, more recently, SARS and the HIN1 and H5N1 avian flu viruses [4–9]. Convalescent blood products are obtained by collecting blood (or plasma) from a donor, that preferably lives in the same geographically infected area, to account for potential mutations of the virus, and who has survived a previous infection by developing antibodies. Convalescent blood products are transfused to achieve passive immunization in recipients by neutralizing the pathogen, eventually leading to its eradication from the blood circulation.

EBOV, a member of the family Filoviridae, is the most recent example of an infectious outbreak that is now affecting West African countries. In the absence of a licensed therapeutic product yet, such as a vaccine or an antiviral treatment, the World Health Organization (WHO) recently approved in principle the evaluation, under certain conditions where controlled clinical studies would evaluate safety and efficacy [10] and in the absence of current alternatives, the use of convalescent "serum" as the first therapeutic option to treat patients with EBOV [10-12]. Part of this decision relied on historical data on the use of convalescent blood products against various infections and on a 1999 report which found that an infusion of convalescent whole blood was associated with the survival of seven of eight Ebola patients in the Democratic Republic of Congo [13]. In 1977, a (heat-treated) convalescent Ebola "serum" was infused, together with human interferon, into a research investigator who had accidentally been infected by EBOV [14]. Animal studies suggested the potential protective effect of anti-EBOV antibodies [15]. Individuals who have survived a previous infectious outbreak are possible donors of convalescent blood that potentially contains protective and long-lasting immunoglobulins (Igs). Serological crossreactivity between various EBOV strains was found [16], which may potentially increase the number of potential donors to treat people affected with the recent outbreak. At this stage, the efficacy and safety of transfusing Ebola convalescent blood products have not been fully proven although it is suspected that it may help for the treatment. It was suggested that antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of filovirus infections may be a risk [17,18], but the clinical relevance of ADE is controversial [19]. In this document, we attempt to clarify the types of convalescent blood products that can be considered to treat patients with EBOV and, more generally, other viral infections.

2. Historical perspectives

The use of animal-derived serum or human convalescent blood products was first reported in the early 20th century to treat various infections when vaccines or other treatments such as antibiotics were not yet available. Many reports lack important technical information on product preparation procedures, and the terms used may be misleading (e.g., the term "serum" may be employed in a generic way to designate other blood products). Use of convalescent "whole blood", or serum obtained by letting the blood clot, was reported against influenza [20] (see Refs. 8 and 21), mumps [9], Herpes zoster [22], poliomyelitis [23], typhoid fever [24], and measles [7,25]. In some of those early clinical examples, whole blood was converted into serum by allowing it to clot, as described for treating measles patients, and injected by an intramuscular route [7]. Alternatively, serum was obtained by adding calcium chloride, and then pooling and sterile-filtering it [25]. A citrate anticoagulant may be added to blood, and then the plasma is recovered by decantation [7], not centrifugation. Use of convalescent "defibrinated plasma" was described in cases of chickenpox [26].

3. Current options

Modern blood transfusion allows the preparation of a range of products that are known to have controlled safety when prepared following standardized, monitored procedures. It should be kept in mind that even in those countries with advanced blood-collection organizations, collecting convalescent blood products during an epidemic crisis creates substantial organizational difficulties [27] and therefore requires adequate preparation [6]. Collection of convalescent blood/plasma in low-income economies, which are most susceptible to being affected by devastating epidemics, can face major organizational, technological, and human challenges, including controlling convalescent donors' being clinically and virally free of infections, pathogen testing (e.g. Human Immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, hepatitis C virus, malaria agent, and syphilis) temperature control of the production chain, processing, and traceability.

Figure 1 summarizes technical options that should be considered when preparing convalescent blood products.

3.1. Whole blood

As reported in 1999, convalescent whole blood was used in the Democratic Republic of Congo to treat eight Ebola patients, seven of whom survived [13], although this high rate of survival could not be necessarily ascertained to be related to the blood transfusions. To be optimally effective in controlling hemorrhagic events, as may occur with EBOV disease, whole blood collected with an anticoagulant solution should be transfused within 24 h to maintain viable platelets and clotting factors (which implies that the viral testing and ABO and RhD cross-matching immunohematological and compatibility tests should be performed within that period if donors have not been pre-screened prior to donation). Whole blood can also be stored at 2–6°C for several days (e.g. 35



Fig. 1. Flow-chart presenting the various technical possibilities that currently can theoretically be considered for producing convalescent blood products. Virally-inactivated plasma and immunoglobulins can also be made from recovered plasma. *unlicensed; **developed in Egypt; ***under clinical trial in immuno-deficient patients; IgG: immunoglobulin G; CF: coagulation factors; alb: albumin; S/D: solvent/detergent; S/D-F: solvent/detergent-filtered; UV: ultraviolet light; VI: virally-inactivated.

days if collected in citrate phosphate dextrose with added adenine).

3.2. Plasma

In the last few years, convalescent plasma has been the blood fraction successfully selected for transfusion to patients affected by Argentine hemorrhagic fever (Junin virus) [28], SARS [29–32], H1N1 [33], and H5N1 [5,34]. There is also a report on the administration of Lassa fever convalescent plasma (LFCP) to 27 hospitalized patients in Nigeria, with apparently increased efficacy in the outcome of the disease when plasma was infused early enough after the diagnosis [35]. Plasma can be obtained by centrifugation, or decantation, of whole blood or by apheresis. Apheresis is the preferred mode of collection for several reasons: larger volume collected/session, possibility of more frequent donations, and absence of impact on the hemoglobin level due to the reinfusion of the red blood cells.

4. Virally reduced (inactivated) single/small pooled plasma

4.1. Technologies licensed in Europe and other countries

Single plasma units: Several viral inactivation technologies of plasma for transfusion applicable to single units have been developed, validated, and licensed in several countries. In principle, use of a viral-inactivation process on convalescent plasma is preferable, if technically achievable, in case there are uncertainties with the possibility of residual viruses in the plasma. It, however, should not be a substitute to good donor screening and optimal viral testing. Licensed technologies include treatment with methylene blue/light [36], psoralen (S-59)/ultraviolet (UV) [37], and riboflavin/UV [38]. Readers can find detailed reviews addressing the technical characteristics, advantages, and limits of these technologies as applied to plasma for transfusions [1,39–41]. All of them use a viral-inactivation process of photoinactivation in the presence of a photosensitizer. They require a dedicated bag treatment system and a specific proprietary illumination machine. Operators should receive appropriate training as needed for all such procedures. To our knowledge, there are no published data relative to the inactivation of EBOV using these technologies. Although these methods tend to induce some loss in the activity of coagulation factors, including factor VIII and fibrinogen, they are thought not to affect immunoglobulin functional activity.

4.2. Technology approved in Egypt

Solvent/detergent (S/D)-filtered (S/D-F) plasma: This technology is routinely used in one blood center in Egypt; 400–450 mL of plasma for transfusion is virally inactivated in a single-use, CE-marked bag system by S/D using 1% tri (n-butyl) phosphate/1% Triton X-45. The S/D agents are eliminated by oil extraction and filtration, and plasma is sterile-filtered before online dispensing in a storage bag and freezing [42]. The method was validated to ensure the inactivation of >4 log of several enveloped viruses, including HIV, within a few minutes of treatment. It is thought

that just like HIV, HBV and HCV, EBOV, being an enveloped viruses, should be readily inactivated by S/D treatment.

4.3. Experimental, unlicensed technologies

A 3-h-long 50 °C liquid heat-treatment of plasma in its collection bag and in the presence of stabilizers compatible with transfusion was described [43]. The process was validated to inactivate >6.6 log of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and >4 log of hepatitis A (HAV) and C (HAC) model viruses. The procedure was used to prepare convalescent scrub typhus plasma and test its HIV-inhibitory action in 10 HIV-1-infected patients [44] following earlier studies which found the presence of plasma-borne HIV-1-suppressive factors produced during some scrub-typhus infections [45]. This system is not commercially available and could not be implemented in a short term.

Another experimental plasma heat-treatment at 56 °C for 30 min was used for randomized clinical evaluations assessing the potential benefit of passive immunotherapy of HIV-1 seropositive plasma. Serial transfusions were made on 18 AIDS patients in the first study [46]. In a second randomized controlled trial, 86 HIV-1 patients received a 300-mL infusion of heat-treated plasma every 14 days over a 1-year period, and every 28 days thereafter [47]. Care should be taken, as with any heat-treatment procedure, to minimize alterations (e.g., aggregation) of proteins that could lead to possible adverse events in patients.

An experimental process allowing viral removal of plasma for transfusion by filtration on 75–35 nm hollow fibers was described [48]. It can remove viruses larger than 35 nm without substantially affecting the IgG content. The size of EBOV (approximately 120 nm) should in principle ensure its removal. No commercial device for this application to plasma has been made available yet.

5. Mini-pool Immunoglobulins

A mini-pool plasma fractionation process using disposable licensed or CE-marked production devices and based on caprylic acid precipitation to purify and virally inactivate immunoglobulins is under development in Egypt [49]. The current process scale is 4 L allowing the pooling of approximately 20 plasma donations. The treatment was validated to inactivate lipid-enveloped viruses, confirming other observations [50,51]. This immunoglobulin product is currently under clinical evaluation in Egypt [52]. Such minipool processing approach, which needs only a small production area equipped with laminar flow cabinet, may be particularly suited for preparing IgG from mini-pools of convalescent plasma within reasonable delay and minimal infrastructure requirements.

6. Large-pool products

Two types of large-scale product can theoretically be considered to produce convalescent blood products.

Industrial S/D plasma is a pooled plasma for transfusion that is virally inactivated by S/D treatment and requires a pharmaceutical-grade facility for its preparation. Considering its proven robustness against a wide range of enveloped viruses [53], this S/D process should also inactivate the EBOV [54], should the virus be present in convalescent plasma. The pool size for industrial S/D plasma generally ranges 100–2500 donors, depending upon the manufacturer and local regulations addressing risks from infectious agents (e.g., non-enveloped plasma-borne viruses) not inactivated by S/D treatment. To our knowledge, there has been no example of preparation of industrial S/Dtreated convalescent plasma.

Large-scale fractionated intravenous Igs: Normal intravenous Igs (IVIGs) are prepared by fractionating large pools (typically 2000-4000 L) of human plasma collected from approximately 10,000–40,000 donors [55,56]. This pool size is obviously too large to be considered due to the difficulties to generate enough convalescent plasma. In some facilities, hyperimmune Igs are made from smaller pools (100-1000 L) of plasma from donors identified to have high titers of specific antibodies. Licensed hyperimmune IgG includes anti-HBV, anti-tetanus, anti-rabies, anticytomegalovirus, and anti-rhesus immunoglobulins. They are now typically made from donors who were immunized through routine vaccinations with licensed vaccines or controlled immunization protocols [57]. Hyperimmune IgG can also be experimentally produced from the plasma of donors immunized by natural infectious routes, as described for instance for malaria [58]. Commercial IgGs are made in good manufacturing practice-inspected facilities following licensed production methods. They are subject to at least two distinct viral-reduction steps [56]. IgGs made from convalescent plasma were experimentally prepared on a small scale to treat patients with SARS [30,59]. Normal IVIG preparations made by the plasma fractionation industry may contain substantial levels of antibodies against infectious agents when collected from donors who happened to have been seroconverted during previous infectious outbreaks. Some commercial IVIG products may have high antibody titers against WNV [60,61], HAV [62], measles [63], or Dengue virus when made from plasma collected from populations including donors who were naturally infected or vaccinated. Preparation of convalescent IgGs in a licensed facility would create specific, probably unsolvable, GMP (good manufacturing practices) issues considering the strict regulatory requirements to which plasma fractionators should adhere, particularly regarding the quality and safety of plasma for fractionation [57].

The production of any large-pool products, either industrial S/D plasma or IVIG in countries with advanced national regulatory authorities, should – under standard guidelines applying to licensed products – use plasma that meets strict quality specifications (epidemiological surveillance, donor screening, viral testing, blood/plasma processing, storage, transportation, traceability, etc.) [57] which convalescent plasma from low- or medium-income countries is unlikely to meet in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the manufacture of large-pool anti-EBOV IgG and S/Dtreated industrial plasma seems to be very challenging.

7. Conclusions

Considering the seriousness and the high mortality rate of the infection, it is important that patients affected by EBOV

be urgently given a chance to receive safe convalescent blood products that can potentially save their life. Several products and diverse technologies can be considered for preparing convalescent blood or blood-derived therapies to fight EBOV and other emerging infectious agents. Whole blood and plasma may be the first and only options to consider before other approaches, provided they are prepared under ethical and controlled conditions. Production of safe convalescent blood products should rely, whenever possible. on a well-structured and well-coordinated national blood-collection organization which is not the case in currently affected countries in West-Africa [64]. This structure can serve as a technology platform when convalescent blood is collected - for safety considerations and to guarantee the traceability or because there is no other choice - under a distinct setting (e.g. remote health care centers). The efficacy and modality of clinical use of convalescent blood products should not be taken for granted. Controlled clinical evaluations are also, therefore, important to establish safe modality of treatment and to provide important knowledge for the treatment of future infectious outbreaks. Convalescent blood products should be prepared and used under strict controls and monitoring to ensure optimal safety to both donors and recipients. A recently published WHO Guidance document provides further technical information on the preparation of convalescent blood products [65].

References

- [1] Blajchman MA. Protecting the blood supply from emerging pathogens: the role of pathogen inactivation. Transfus Clin Biol 2009;16:70–4.
- [2] Dodd RY. Emerging pathogens and their implications for the blood supply and transfusion transmitted infections. Br J Haematol 2012;159:135–42.
- [3] Breban R, Riou J, Fontanet A. Interhuman transmissibility of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus: estimation of pandemic risk. Lancet 2013;382:694–9.
- [4] Wong VW, Dai D, Wu AK, Sung JJ. Treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome with convalescent plasma. Hong Kong Med J 2003;9:199–201.
- [5] Kong LK, Zhou BP. Successful treatment of avian influenza with convalescent plasma. Hong Kong Med J 2006;12:489.
- [6] Leider JP, Brunker PA, Ness PM. Convalescent transfusion for pandemic influenza: preparing blood banks for a new plasma product? Transfusion 2010;50:1384–98.
- [7] Zingher A, Mortimer P. Convalescent whole blood, plasma and serum in the prophylaxis of measles: JAMA, 12 April, 1926; 1180–1187. Rev Med Virol 2005;15:407–18, discussion 18–21.
- [8] Luke TC, Kilbane EM, Jackson JL, Hoffman SL. Meta-analysis: convalescent blood products for Spanish influenza pneumonia: a future H5N1 treatment? Ann Intern Med 2006;145:599–609.
- [9] Gunn W. Convalescent serum in prophylaxis of measles, chicken-pox, and mumps. Br Med J 1932;1:183–5.
- [10] Anonymous. Position Paper on collection and use of convalescent plasma or serum as an element in filovirus outbreak response. WHO Blood Regulators Network (BRN). 14 August 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- [11] WHO. Consultation on potential Ebola therapies and vaccines-Background document for participants. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 <http://www.who.int/csr/disease/ebola/ebola -new-interventions-02-sep-2014.pdf?ua=1>; 3 Sep 2014.
- [12] Gulland A. First Ebola treatment is approved by WHO. Br Med J 2014;349:g5539.
- [13] Mupapa K, Massamba M, Kibadi K, et al. Treatment of Ebola hemorrhagic fever with blood transfusions from convalescent patients. International Scientific and Technical Committee. J Infect Dis 1999;179(Suppl. 1):S18–23.
- [14] Emond R, Evans B, Bowen E, Lloyd G. A case of Ebola virus infection. Br Med J 1977;2:541.

- [15] Parren PW, Geisbert TW, Maruyama T, Jahrling PB, Burton DR. Preand postexposure prophylaxis of Ebola virus infection in an animal model by passive transfer of a neutralizing human antibody. J Virol 2002;76:6408–12.
- [16] Macneil A, Reed Z, Rollin PE. Serologic cross-reactivity of human IgM and IgG antibodies to five species of Ebola virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2011;5:e1175.
- [17] Takada A, Ebihara H, Feldmann H, Geisbert TW, Kawaoka Y. Epitopes required for antibody-dependent enhancement of Ebola virus infection. J Infect Dis 2007;196(Suppl. 2):S347–56.
- [18] Takada A, Feldmann H, Ksiazek TG, Kawaoka Y. Antibody-dependent enhancement of Ebola virus infection. J Virol 2003;77:7539–44.
- [19] Geisbert TW, Hensley LE, Geisbert JB, Jahrling PB. Evidence against an important role for infectivity-enhancing antibodies in Ebola virus infections. Virology 2002;293:15–9.
- [20] McGuire LW, Redden WR. The use of convalescent human serum in influenza pneumonia-a preliminary report. Am J Public Health 1918;8:741-4.
- [21] Parry RP, Tettmar KI, Hoschler K, et al. Strategies for screening blood donors to source convalescent H1N1v plasma for intervention therapy. Vox Sang 2012;103:107–12.
- [22] Gundersen T. Convalescent blood for herpes zoster. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc 1935;33:508–20.
- [23] Jensen C. The 1934 Epidemic of poliomyelitis in Denmark. Preliminary report on the epidemiology, clinical features and convalescent serum therapy: (section of pathology). Proc R Soc Med 1935;28:1007–26.
- [24] Dewar HA. Treatment of typhoid fever with convalescent whole blood. J R Army Med Corps 1946;86:249–53.
- [25] Nabarro DN, Signy AG. Convalescent serum in prophylaxis of measles. Br Med J 1931;1:12–3.
- [26] Avenard G, Gaiffe M, Herzog F. The prevention of chickenpox in high risk children. Comparison of the effectiveness of specific immunoglobulins and of defibrinated convalescent plasma. 414 cases (author's transl). Nouv Presse Med 1979;8:673–5.
- [27] Wong HK, Lee CK, Hung IF, et al. Practical limitations of convalescent plasma collection: a case scenario in pandemic preparation for influenza A (H1N1) infection. Transfusion 2010;50:1967– 71.
- [28] Maiztegui JI, Fernandez NJ, de Damilano AJ. Efficacy of immune plasma in treatment of Argentine haemorrhagic fever and association between treatment and a late neurological syndrome. Lancet 1979;2:1216–7.
- [29] Cheng Y, Wong R, Soo YO, et al. Use of convalescent plasma therapy in SARS patients in Hong Kong. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2005;24:44–6.
- [30] Mair-Jenkins J, Saavedra-Campos M, Baillie JK, et al. The effectiveness of convalescent plasma and hyperimmune immunoglobulin for the treatment of severe acute respiratory infections of viral etiology: a systematic review and exploratory meta-analysis. J Infect Dis 2014;pii: jiu396.
- [31] Soo YO, Cheng Y, Wong R, et al. Retrospective comparison of convalescent plasma with continuing high-dose methylprednisolone treatment in SARS patients. Clin Microbiol Infect 2004;10:676–8.
- [32] Yeh KM, Chiueh TS, Siu LK, et al. Experience of using convalescent plasma for severe acute respiratory syndrome among healthcare workers in a Taiwan hospital. J Antimicrob Chemother 2005;56:919– 22.
- [33] Hung IF, To KK, Lee CK, et al. Convalescent plasma treatment reduced mortality in patients with severe pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus infection. Clin Infect Dis 2011;52:447–56.
- [34] Zhou B, Zhong N, Guan Y. Treatment with convalescent plasma for influenza A (H5N1) infection. N Engl J Med 2007;357:1450–1.
- [35] Frame JD, Verbrugge GP, Gill RG, Pinneo L. The use of Lassa fever convalescent plasma in Nigeria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1984;78:319–24.
- [36] Mohr H, Pohl U, Lambrecht B, Wieding JU, Schmitt H. Methylene blue/light treatment of virus inactivated human plasma: production and clinical experience. Infusionsther Transfusionsmed 1993;20(Suppl. 2):19–24.
- [37] Singh Y, Sawyer LS, Pinkoski LS, et al. Photochemical treatment of plasma with amotosalen and long-wavelength ultraviolet light inactivates pathogens while retaining coagulation function. Transfusion 2006;46:1168–77.
- [38] Bihm DJ, Ettinger A, Buytaert-Hoefen KA, et al. Characterization of plasma protein activity in riboflavin and UV light-treated fresh frozen plasma during 2 years of storage at –30 degrees C. Vox Sang 2010;98:108–15.
- [39] Klein HG. Pathogen inactivation technology: cleansing the blood supply. J Intern Med 2005;257:224–37.

- [40] Rock G. A comparison of methods of pathogen inactivation of FFP. Vox Sang 2011;100:169–78.
- [41] Solheim BG, Seghatchian J. Update on pathogen reduction technology for therapeutic plasma: an overview. Transfus Apher Sci 2006;35:83–90.
- [42] El-Ekiaby M, Sayed MA, Caron C, et al. Solvent-detergent filtered (S/D-F) fresh frozen plasma and cryoprecipitate minipools prepared in a newly designed integral disposable processing bag system. Transfus Med 2010;20:48–61.
- [43] Goubran HA, Burnouf T, Radosevich M. Virucidal heat-treatment of single plasma units: a potential approach for developing countries. Haemophilia 2000;6:597–604.
- [44] Watt G, Kantipong P, Jongsakul K, de Souza M, Burnouf T. Passive transfer of scrub typhus plasma to patients with AIDS: a descriptive clinical study. QJM 2001;94:599–607.
- [45] Watt G, Kantipong P, de Souza M, et al. HIV-1 suppression during acute scrub-typhus infection. Lancet 2000;356:475–9.
- [46] Vittecoq D, Mattlinger B, Barre-Sinoussi F, et al. Passive immunotherapy in AIDS: a randomized trial of serial human immunodeficiency virus-positive transfusions of plasma rich in p24 antibodies versus transfusions of seronegative plasma. J Infect Dis 1992;165:364–8.
- [47] Vittecoq D, Chevret S, Morand-Joubert L, et al. Passive immunotherapy in AIDS: a double-blind randomized study based on transfusions of plasma rich in anti-human immunodeficiency virus 1 antibodies vs. transfusions of seronegative plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:1195–9.
- [48] Burnouf T, Radosevich M, El-Ekiaby M, et al. Nanofiltration of single plasma donations: feasibility study. Vox Sang 2003;84:111–9.
- [49] El-Ekiaby M, Radosevich M, Goubran H, El Sayed M, Burnouf T. New methods of plasma fractionation – a presentation of the 'mini-pool' fractionation procedure developed in Egypt. ISBT Science Series 2009;4(1):99–106. State of the Art Presentations.
- [50] Dichtelmuller H, Rudnick D, Kloft M. Inactivation of lipid enveloped viruses by octanoic acid treatment of immunoglobulin solution. Biologicals 2002;30:135–42.
- [51] Korneyeva M, Hotta J, Lebing W, Rosenthal RS, Franks L, Petteway SR Jr. Enveloped virus inactivation by caprylate: a robust alternative to solvent-detergent treatment in plasma derived intermediates. Biologicals 2002;30:153–62.
- [52] El-Ekiaby M, Burnouf T, El-Marsafy A, Galal N, Goubran H, Radosevic M. Clinical evaluation of minipool immunoglobulin plasma fraction in primary immunodeficiency patients. 5A-S42-02. Vox Sang 2014;107:1–56.
- [53] Solheim BG, Seghatchian J. Pathogen Inactivation, In: Simon TL, Snyder EL, Solheim BG, Stowell CP, Strauss RG, Petrides M, editors. Rossi's

Principles of Transfusion Medicine. 4th ed. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2009. doi: 10.1002/9781444303513.ch51.

- [54] BRN WBRN. Potential for use of convalescent plasma in management of Ebola. 14 August 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. http://www.who.int/bloodproducts/brn/potential _use_convalescent_plasma_in_management_of_ebola-brn _considerations.pdf">http://www.who.int/bloodproducts/brn/potential _use_convalescent_plasma_in_management_of_ebola-brn _considerations.pdf.
- [55] Burnouf T. Modern plasma fractionation. Transfus Med Rev 2007;21:101-17.
- [56] Radosevich M, Burnouf T. Intravenous immunoglobulin G: trends in production methods, quality control and quality assurance. Vox Sang 2010;98:12–28.
- [57] WHO. Annex 4. Recommendations for the collection, quality control and regulation of human plasma for fractionation. WHO Tech Rep Ser 2007;941:189–264.
- [58] Sabchareon A, Burnouf T, Ouattara D, et al. Parasitological and clinical human response to immunoglobulin administration in falciparum-malaria. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1991;45:297– 308.
- [59] Zhang Z, Xie YW, Hong J, et al. Purification of severe acute respiratory syndrome hyperimmune globulins for intravenous injection from convalescent plasma. Transfusion 2005;45:1160– 4.
- [60] Planitzer CB, Modrof J, Kreil TR. West Nile virus neutralization by US plasma-derived immunoglobulin products. J Infect Dis 2007;196:435–40.
- [61] Rabel PO, Planitzer CB, Farcet MR, et al. Increasing West Nile virus antibody titres in central European plasma donors from 2006 to 2010. Euro Surveill 2011;16.
- [62] Farcet MR, Planitzer CB, Stein O, Modrof J, Kreil TR. Hepatitis A virus antibodies in immunoglobulin preparations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125:198–202.
- [63] Audet S, Virata-Theimer ML, Beeler JA, et al. Measles-virusneutralizing antibodies in intravenous immunoglobulins. J Infect Dis 2006;194:781–9.
- [64] Burnouf T, Emmanuel J, Mbanya D, et al. Ebola: a call for blood transfusion strategy in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet 2014;384: 1347–8.
- [65] WHO. Use of convalescent whole blood or plasma collected from patients recovered from Ebola Virus Disease for transfusion, as an empirical treatment during outbreaks. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. http://aps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/135591/1/WHO_HIS_SDS_2014.8_eng.pdf.